

PROPOSED NATIONAL SCALE RATINGS CRITERIA FOR SUDAN

Issue Date: 22 December 2017

Request for Comments: CI Ratings is requesting feedback from rated banks, corporates, subscribers, other stakeholders, and market participants on this proposed National Scale Ratings Criteria for Sudan.

Comments should be sent to criteriafeedback@ciratings.com by **22 January 2018**.

In accordance with EU regulation, all comments received will be published on our public website at the end of the consultation period, unless the respondent requests that their identity and comments be treated as confidential.

After the deadline, we will review the comments and subsequently finalise and publish the new methodology.

1. ABOUT THIS PROPOSED METHODOLOGY

1.1 Effective Date

We intend to finalise this proposed methodology after considering comments received during the stakeholder consultation period, which will run for one month from the issue date given above. If adopted, the proposed criteria are expected to come into effect within one week of the end of the request for comments period. The actual effective date will be provided in the final published version of this methodology.

1.2 Scope

This proposed criteria apply to national scale ratings assigned by Capital Intelligence Ratings (hereinafter CI Ratings or CI) to issuers and issues based in Sudan. The general methodological approach and underlying principles are broadly the same as those applied in other countries where CI Ratings assigns national scale ratings. However, the proposed correspondence or mapping between CI's international issuer rating scales and the Sudan national rating scales is unique to Sudan.

1.3 Effect on Existing Ratings

National scale ratings for Sudan are a new addition to CI's rating services. Consequently, no current ratings will be affected by the introduction of this methodology.

2. NATIONAL SCALE RATINGS: DEFINITION AND PURPOSE

National scale ratings are an independent opinion of the ability and willingness of a rated entity to meet financial commitments either in general (an issuer credit rating) or with respect to a specific debt instrument (an issue credit rating) relative to other issuers or issues in the same country.

By assessing the relative creditworthiness of obligors within a particular country, national ratings differ from CI Ratings' international credit ratings (local and foreign currency issuer ratings, and bond and Sukuk ratings) which are comparable across countries. In addition, national ratings are intended mainly to capture the relative creditworthiness of local currency issues and issuers.

The main purpose of national ratings is to allow greater differentiation among issuers and issues in countries whose sovereign credit ratings are some way below 'AAA' on CI Ratings' international ratings scale. In this way, CI Ratings' national ratings aim to provide capital market investors with clear credit distinctions between issuers and issues that may not be possible under internationally comparable rating scales. For example, in a country where the sovereign is rated BBq on CI Ratings' international scale for local currency obligations, the international credit ratings of financial institutions and corporates within that country will generally be confined to the eight grades from BBq to C-1 (excluding default categories). In such a case, there is a strong likelihood of credits being bunched together at particular grades, making it difficult for capital market participants and counterparties to distinguish one credit from another.

Like other credit ratings offered by CI Ratings, national ratings are assigned and all subsequent rating actions determined by rating committees and never by an individual analyst. Rating committees are composed of rating analysts who, individually or collectively, have appropriate knowledge and experience in developing a rating opinion for the type of credit being considered.

3. GENERAL METHODOLOGICAL APPROACH

Under CI Ratings' national ratings methodology, the strongest credit within a country is assigned a 'AAA' national rating. The strongest credit is usually the entity with the highest long-term local currency rating assigned using CI Ratings' international credit rating scale and therefore the least likely to default on financial obligations. The creditworthiness of other entities within the country is assessed relative to that entity.

As national ratings are ordinal, a sufficient number of rated entities are needed in order to produce a meaningful ranking of issuers by their creditworthiness. To build a broad and representative universe of issuers or issues within a country, CI Ratings first assigns national ratings to those entities that have already received an international rating from CI Ratings. Then, unsolicited and possibly shadow (i.e. unpublished) national ratings are assigned to other entities within the country, provided sufficient public information is available. Unsolicited and shadow ratings are usually assigned if the number of entities with visible credit ratings is low, and also to ensure that the risk profile and financial performance of a range of sectors is captured in the credit rankings.

The sovereign is typically, though not necessarily, the strongest credit within a country. In situations where this is not the case (e.g. the sovereign may be in, or close to default, but other entities are continuing to fulfil their financial obligations), but where it is difficult to identify the strongest credit (e.g. due to limited public information and financial transparency), CI Ratings may map the highest national rating from a notional international rating.

The notional international rating would be the highest long-term local currency issuer rating that CI Ratings could envisage assigning to an entity in the intermediate term and will generally be restricted to between one and three notches (i.e. one rating category) above the long-term local currency sovereign rating, or a maximum of BBq if the sovereign is rated C+ or lower.

Entities assigned a national rating typically include the central government, local banks, insurers, and major local corporations. They may also include the subsidiaries and branches of foreign-owned institutions provided they are permitted to borrow from the local market.

An international credit rating summarises the repayment risk of an entity relative to all other entities rated by CI Ratings. As this entails a global comparison, there is only one rating scale for international issuer ratings. A national rating summarises repayment risk of an entity relative to other entities within the same economy. As national ratings are not directly comparable across borders, a different national rating scale is constructed for each country where demand for such ratings exists. The country-specific nature of CI Ratings' national ratings is captured by the addition of the country prefix "nr" to the credit rating, as in "nrAAA" for Sudan.

4. MAPPING FROM INTERNATIONAL TO NATIONAL SCALES

When developing a national rating scale CI Ratings establishes mapping guidelines, which guide the transposition of a rating from the international scale to the national rating scale. We do this in order to preserve the ordinal ranking of entities on the two scales. It would be counterintuitive for one entity to be rated more highly than another on the international rating scale but not on a national rating scale. However, entities with the same rating on the international scale could have different ratings on a national scale given the larger number of effective notches on the latter rating scale.

Important differences in rating dynamics may potentially arise due to the greater room for credit differentiation afforded by national rating scales. Firstly, an entity's national rating may change more frequently than its international credit rating. Secondly, an entity's national rating may change without a corresponding change in its international rating. Finally, a change in the international rating may lead to a multi-notch adjustment in the national rating, particularly in countries where the strongest entity is lowly rated on the international scale.

The mapping between the two scales is not immutably fixed and may be recalibrated if there is a significant change in the international creditworthiness of the strongest credit within a country. In general, a change in the international rating of the strongest entity of more than one notch from the reference point used to establish the initial (or currently used) mapping would normally be enough to trigger such a reassessment. In some cases a one-notch movement may be sufficient to warrant the recalibration of the mapping, particularly where failure to do so would result in significant bunching at the highest grades or mean that the positioning of ratings fails to sufficiently reflect credit risk relativities.

To ensure that the national rating scale is able to serve its primary purpose of affording sufficient opportunity for credit differentiation, a downgrade in the international rating of the strongest entity would generally result in an upward shift in the mapping table. Hence, a given international rating may map to a higher national rating (following the downgrade) as national ratings are mapped from a smaller number of international ratings.

In such cases the repositioning of national ratings across the national rating scale may not necessarily indicate any change in credit risk in an absolute sense (indeed the international ratings of the entity may not have changed) and should not be interpreted as an upgrade.

When repositioning national ratings following the recalibration of the mapping guidelines we will attempt to preserve, to the extent possible, the ordinal ranking of entities within a country, while enabling sufficient differentiation relative to international ratings. However, scope for differentiation inevitably diminishes as the international rating of the strongest entity advances through the investment grade categories of the international rating scale.

5. RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN INTERNATIONAL AND NATIONAL RATING OUTLOOKS

Where the Outlook for an entity's long-term international credit rating is revised to either ~~Positive~~ or ~~Negative~~ the Outlook for its national rating will normally be adjusted in the same direction. However, where the Outlook for the international credit rating is ~~Stable~~ the Outlook for the national rating may be ~~Positive~~, ~~Negative~~ or ~~Stable~~ provided the international rating maps to more than one grade on the national rating scale and depending on the relative position of the national rating within the range of national ratings mapping to the specific international rating.

6. NATIONAL RATINGS AND DEFAULT RISK

The national rating scale and the international rating scale provide different measures of relative credit risk. However, under both approaches the creditworthiness of an entity may deteriorate to the point where it is unable to service its financial obligations in absolute terms. Hence the anchor for both the national rating scale and the international rating scale is the rating category that indicates default (i.e. ~~D~~), and the rating scales generally exhibit a higher degree of convergence at the rating category that signals very weak creditworthiness or, conversely, high default risk (i.e. lower ~~C~~ range).

The investment grade, speculative grade nomenclature used in the context of the international rating scale does not apply to national ratings. For example, an entity could be rated at a high level on the national rating scale (say, ~~AAA~~) but be rated lowly on the international scale, at a grade indicative of a comparatively high default risk.

7. CRITERIA FOR DETERMINING RELATIVE CREDIT RISK

National and international ratings are both indicators of relative default risk (albeit in different spheres) and hence the same analytical criteria contained in the relevant sector-specific methodology (e.g. the Bank Rating Methodology) are used to assess the creditworthiness of entities, regardless of the rating type. In short this involves a thorough evaluation of the quantitative and qualitative factors that may affect the ability and willingness of a rated entity to meet its financial commitments, such as interest payments and repayment of principal, on a timely basis. The focus is usually on the intrinsic financial strength and financial resilience of the rated entity, but external support factors are also taken into consideration. Analysis of each general type of entity (bank, corporate etc) is disaggregated into a number of analytical categories in order to build a rated entity's credit risk profile and facilitate meaningful comparison between rated entities within the same industry or sector. Country risk, which is a key consideration in international ratings, is generally less important to the determination of national ratings. Although ratings may reflect relative vulnerability to changes in the operating environment, and transfer and convertibility risks are not factored into national ratings of local currency obligations.

8. LIMITATIONS OF NATIONAL RATINGS

National ratings are not directly comparable to international credit ratings and the strongest credit on a national scale may be lowly ranked on an international rating scale. Consequently, CI Ratings makes no distinction between investment grades and speculative grades in its national rating scales. Investors should be aware that a highly rated credit on a national rating scale might still be a significant credit risk in an absolute sense.

The relationship and mapping between international ratings and national ratings may change over time. National rating scales may be recalibrated and the national ratings assigned to entities repositioned to reflect the updated mapping. Consequently, analysis of the migration of an entity's national rating over time may be meaningless unless the effects of recalibrations are taken into account.

CI Ratings national ratings focus on one aspect of investment risk . credit (or repayment) risk . and do not explicitly capture loss severity or recovery prospects. National ratings are not recommendations to purchase, sell, or hold stocks or shares in an institution or particular security. National ratings do not assess or indicate the likelihood of changes in the market price of rated instruments due to market-related factors such as changes in interest rates or liquidity. Moreover, national ratings do not provide an opinion of the liquidity in the market of an issuer's securities.

ANNEX 1: NATIONAL RATINGS SCALE AND DEFINITIONS FOR SUDAN

CI Ratings national ratings provide an opinion as to the ability and willingness of obligors to meet financial commitments either in general (an issuer credit rating) or with respect to a specific debt instrument (an issue credit rating) relative to all other issuers or issues in the same country.

CI Ratings national rating scale for a given country is not directly comparable to any other CI Ratings credit rating scale, national or international. The country-specific nature of CI Ratings national ratings is captured by the addition of the prefix "nr" to the credit rating, as in suAAA for Sudan.

Under CI Ratings national rating methodology, the strongest credit in the country is normally assigned the rating "nrAAA", and all other issuers or issues are assigned ratings relative to that strongest credit. As national ratings provide an ordinal ranking of creditworthiness in a specific country, a highly rated issuer or issue on a national rating scale might still be a significant credit risk in an absolute sense.

The rating scales for national ratings in Sudan are shown below. Short-term ratings assess the time period up to one year.

Long-Term National Scale Ratings, Sudan

suAAA	The highest credit quality in a given country. Strongest capacity for timely fulfilment of financial obligations relative to all other issuers or issues in the same country.
suAA	Very high credit quality in a given country. Very strong capacity for timely fulfilment of financial obligations relative to all other issuers or issues in the same country.
suA	High credit quality in a given country. Strong capacity for timely fulfilment of financial obligations relative to other issuers or issues in the same country.
suBBB	Moderate credit quality in a given country. Moderate capacity for timely fulfilment of financial obligations relative to other issuers or issues in the same country.
suBB	Moderately weak credit quality in a given country. Limited capacity for timely fulfilment of financial obligations relative to other issuers or issues in the same country.
suB	Weak credit quality in a given country. Weak capacity for timely fulfilment of financial obligations relative to other issuers or issues in the same country.
suC	Very weak credit quality in a given country. There is considerable uncertainty as to timely repayment of financial obligations relative to other issuers or issues in the same country.
suRS	Regulatory supervision (this rating is assigned to financial institutions only). The obligor is under the regulatory supervision of the authorities due to its weak financial condition. The likelihood of default is extremely high without continued external support.
suSD	Selective default. The obligor has failed to service one or more financial obligations but CI believes that the default will be restricted in scope and that the obligor will continue honouring other financial commitments in a timely manner.
suD	The obligor has defaulted on all, or nearly all, of its financial obligations.

Short-Term National Scale Ratings, Sudan

suA1	Strongest capacity for timely repayment of financial obligations in the short term relative to all other issuers or issues in the same country. Issuers or issues with a particularly strong relative credit profile have a % u + affixed to the rating.
suA2	Good capacity for timely repayment relative to all other issuers or issues in the same country.
suA3	Moderate capacity for timely repayment relative to all other issuers or issues in the same country.
suB	Weak capacity for timely repayment relative to all other issuers or issues in the same country.
suC	Very weak capacity for timely repayment relative to all other issuers or issues in the same country.
suRS	Regulatory supervision (this rating is assigned to financial institutions only). The obligor is under the regulatory supervision of the authorities due to its weak financial condition. The likelihood of default is extremely high without continued external support.
suSD	Selective default. The obligor has failed to service one or more financial obligations but CI believes that the default will be restricted in scope and that the obligor will continue honouring other financial commitments in a timely manner.
suD	The obligor has defaulted on all, or nearly all, of its financial obligations.

CI Ratings appends "+" and "-" signs to national scale long-term credit ratings in the categories from %~~u~~AA+ to %~~u~~C+ to indicate that the strength of a particular issuer or issue is, respectively, slightly greater or less than that of similarly rated peers.

Outlook . expectations of improvement, no change or deterioration in a rating over the 12 months following its publication are denoted Positive, Stable or Negative.

ANNEX 2: MAPPING FROM INTERNATIONAL RATINGS TO SUDAN NATIONAL RATINGS

International Scale Long-Term Local Currency		National Scale Long-Term
Issuer Ratings	Issue Ratings	Issuer and Issue Ratings
B and above	B and above	suAAA
B-	B-	suAA+
B-	B-	suAA
B-	B-	suAA-
B-	B-	suA+
C+	CCC+	suA
C+	CCC+	suA-
C+	CCC+	suBBB+
C+	CCC+	suBBB
C+	CCC+	suBBB-
C	CCC	suBB+
C	CCC	suBB
C	CCC	suBB-
C	CCC	suB+
C	CCC	suB
C-	CCC-	suB-
C-	CCC-	suC+
C-	CC	suC
C-	C	suC-
RS	RS	suRS
SD	SD	suSD
D	D	suD

ANNEX 3: MAPPING FROM LONG-TERM TO SHORT-TERM NATIONAL RATINGS IN SUDAN

National Scale Long-Term Rating	National Scale Short-Term Rating
suAAA	suA1+
suAA+	suA1+
suAA	suA1+
suAA-	suA1
suA+	suA1
suA	suA1
suA-	suA2
suBBB+	suA2
suBBB	suA3
suBBB-	suA3
suBB+	suB
suBB	suB
suBB-	suB
suB+	suB
suB	suB
suB-	suC
suC+	suC
suC	suC
suC-	suC
suRS	suRS
suSD	suSD
suD	suD

Capital Intelligence Ratings Ltd

Oasis Complex, Block E, Gladstone Street
PO Box 53585
CY 3303 Limassol
Cyprus

Telephone: 357 2534 2300

Facsimile: 357 2581 7750

E-mail: capital@ciratings.com

Web site: <http://www.ciratings.com>

A rating issued by Capital Intelligence Ratings is not a recommendation to purchase, sell, or hold a security of the institution, inasmuch as it does not comment as to market price or suitability for a particular investor.

Reproducing or distributing this publication without the publisher's consent is prohibited. Information has been obtained by Capital Intelligence Ratings from sources believed to be reliable. However, because of the possibility of human or mechanical error by our source, Capital Intelligence Ratings, or others, Capital Intelligence Ratings does not guarantee the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of any information and is not responsible for any error or omissions or for the results obtained from use of such information.

Copyright © Capital Intelligence Ratings Limited 2017